FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 2 1998

CLEPK, SURPEME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 92,442

JUDIAS BUENOANO,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAWSON LAMAR STATE ATTORNEY

PAULA COFFMAN ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY FLORIDA BAR NO. **390712**

OFFICE OF THE STATE ATTORNEY POST OFFICE BOX 1673 ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32801 (407) 836-2406 ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In January of 1997, a public records demand was made upon the Office of the State Attorney, Ninth Judicial Circuit, on behalf of Judy Buenoano $(1R \ 2-4)$.¹ The Office of the State Attorney, Ninth Judicial Circuit, refused to provide access to its records upon the ground that this demand, which was successive, did not comply with Rule 3.852, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (1R 2-4).

Buenoano subsequently initiated a mandamus action (1R 31-70) which was resolved by an Order Transferring Petition for Writ of Mandamus to Petitioner's Criminal Case (1R 128-131). This order specifically determined, inter *alia*, that ". . . the Petition for Writ of Mandamus shall be treated as if it were a motion to compel . . . filed pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.852" and that "Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852 governs the public records requests involved in this matter (1R 131)."

In December of 1997, the Office of the State Attorney, Ninth Judicial Circuit, received two transmittals from the Criminal Division of the United States Department of Justice containing documents which required inspection for a determination of any duty on the part of the prosecution under <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83

 $^{^{\}rm l}$ (1R -) refers to the Record on Appeal prepared on January 27, 1998. (2R -) refers to the Record on Appeal prepared on February 25, 1998.

(1963), and its progeny to disclose such documents to the defense. See Transcript of Status Conference held on January 23, 1998 (1R).

On January 6, 1998, the trial court held a hearing on the Defendant's Motions to Compel Production of Public Records (1R 170-171); <u>see also</u> Transcript of Public Records Hearing Proceedings held on January 6, 1998). On January 8, 1998, the trial court entered its Order Denying Motions to Compel Production of Public Records (1R 178-186).

The State's Request for In Camera Inspection and Judicial Determination of Prosecutorial Obligation was filed on the same date (1R 187-189). The subject of the State's request was the records received from the Department of Justice. The trial court held a hearing on this motion on January 12, 1998 (see Transcript of Proceedings held on January 12, 1998), and issued an Order Regarding State's Request for In Camera Inspection and Judicial Determination of Prosecutorial Obligation on January 15, 1998, determining that none of the inspected materials contained within sealed envelopes "A" through "F" constitute <u>Bradv</u> evidence (1R 332-338).

On January 20, 1998, the State filed the State's Supplemental Request for In Camera Inspection and Judicial Determination of Prosecutorial Obligation (1R 357-358). On January 23, 1998, the trial court held a.hearing on this motion. <u>See</u> transcript of Status Conference held on January 23, 1998. At this hearing, the

State explained that it had been in possession of the materials which were the subject of the State's <u>supplemental</u> request for in camera inspection at the time the State's <u>initial</u> request for in camera inspection was granted on January 12, 1998. However, through inadvertence, the additional materials had not been placed under seal in open court at the hearing held on January 12, 1998, as intended. At that time, the prosecutor also explained that, because the materials at issue had been reviewed by another attorney in her office, she was unaware at the time of the hearing on January 12, 1998, that not all of the materials sought to be inspected <u>in camera</u> were being filed under court seal. <u>See</u> transcript of Status Conference held on January 23, 1998. Counsel for Buenoano objected to any further <u>in camera</u> review.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court denied the State's <u>supplemental</u> request for in camera inspection (1R 471). On that same date, the State elected to disclose to the defense the materials which were the subject of the State's supplemental request for in camera inspection, making them part of a Notice of Filing filed on January 26, 1998 (1R 475-673).

On February 3, 1998, the State was apprised through a telephone conversation with the Criminal Division of the United States Department of Justice that a number of documents which were disclosed to the defense on January 23, 1998, and that perhaps a document which was placed under court seal on January 12, 1998,

were in fact under court seal in <u>other</u> state and federal cases throughout the country. The State subsequently filed an Emergency Request for Protective Order in this Court on February 4, 1998.

On February 5, 1998, this Court issued a "stand still" order concerning "the documents already produced, which are contained in Volume 4 of the record in this case," prohibiting the defense from disclosing the subject documents "to anyone, until further order of this Court (2R 339)." On February 6, 1998, this Court issued an order requiring the Office of the State Attorney for the Ninth Judicial Circuit to make available to the Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Northern Region 'all documents in their possession which are encompassed by the chapter 119 requests at issue in this case and which have not previously been provided to Buenoano (2R 529). This order was subsequently amended to require certification of a diligent search by the agency (2R 530).

On February 9, 1998, this Court issued an order directing that the sealed documents, which were the subject of the State's Request for In Camera Inspection and Judicial Determination of Prosecutorial Obligation, be "immediately returned to the trial court, with direction to make them available to CCRC, on behalf of Judy A. Buenoano." These documents were disclosed to the defense by order of the Court under "the conditions outlined in the court's February 5, 1998 order temporarily limiting access to documents

contained in Volume 4 of the record, pending further order of the trial court (2R 532-533).

In accordance with a time table established in the Court's February 9, 1998 order, the State, on February 11, 1998, filed a consolidated response to pending motions to intervene filed by the media, as well as the State's Motion for Protective Order (2R 415-416, 417-428). In the Motion for Protective Order, the State asserted that the FBI documents were exempt from disclosure under \$119.072, Fla.Stat. (1997) (2R 418). Attached to the State's motion were declarations of two federal officials - one with the Department of Justice and one with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, to the effect that public disclosure of the documents at issue would "reveal information concerning a pending investigation or would reveal a sensitive law enforcement method or technique;" the declaration of the former official stated that the documents contained 'sensitive information about individuals protected under the Privacy Act", and pointed out that the documents had only been furnished to the State Attorney's Office under the condition that such were "not public and should be disclosed pursuant to a protective order." (2R 421-8). The trial court granted the motions to intervene in an order dated February 12, 1998 (2R 457-460).

On February 18, 1998, the trial court held a hearing on the State's Motion for Protective Order (2R 18-94). At that time, the

State identified eleven documents sought to be protected, ten of which had been disclosed to the defense on January 23, 1998, and one of which was believed to be part of the documents filed under court seal on January 12, 1998 (2R 593). On February 19, 1998, the trial court issued an Order Unsealing the Documents that the State Does Not Want Protected by a Protective Order (2R 757-761). Also on that date, the State filed its Provisional Motion for Stay of Effect of Order (2R 755-756).

On February 20, 1998, the trial court issued its Order Denying State's Motion for Protective Order and Order Staying the Provisions of this Order that Unseal the Ten Documents at Issue Through Monday, February 23, 1998 (2R 766-777). In denving the protective order, the circuit court found that the State had waived any statutory exemption to Chapter 119 by "voluntarily,,, albeit inadvertently, turning the records over to the defendant, and that, because the records were presently in the court file, the Rules of Judicial Administration controlled, and that none of the criteria set forth in Rule 2.051(c)(9), Fla.R.Jud.Admin. applied (2R 766-777). On February 23, 1998, the State filed a timely Notice of Appeal in this cause (2R 778-779). Also on that date, the State disclosed to the defense the eleventh document which was the subject of the State's Motion for Protective Order (2R 780-784).

INTRODUCTION/SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This cause is before the Court, following remand, on the State's appeal of the circuit court's denial of its Motion for Protective Order; to the extent necessary, this pleading should be considered as a petition seeking to invoke this Court's All Writs Jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1) & (7), of the Florida Constitution. The State respectfully contends that the lower court erred in a number of respects, most particularly in failing to fully weigh or consider the harm which disclosure of the documents in question would cause to a third party, i.e., the federal government, the true custodian of the records. The documents at issue relate to confidential criminal investigatory matters and are subject to statutory exemption from disclosure. Any inadvertent disclosure was short lived, and a balancing of the equities dictates that the order on appeal must be reversed and disclosure or release of the documents prohibited.

ARGUMENT

Point on Appeal

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE STATE'S MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER, IN THAT DISCLOSURE OF THE DOCUMENTS AT ISSUE INJURES AN INNOCENT THIRD PARTY, i.e., THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT, AND IS CONTRARY TO 5119.072.

The highly unusual facts of this **case** are as follows. In December of 1997, the Justice Department transmitted to the Office of the State Attorney for the Ninth Judicial Circuit documents pertaining to FBI laboratory examiner Roger Martz; the transmittal letter contained the following language:

> These documents are not public and should only be disclosed pursuant to a protective order. material may contain references to This individuals whose identification is protected by the Privacy Act, and to other sensitive matters. Prior to disclosing any of this material, please consult with me so that we can be sure that your impending disclosure does not adversely impact on other matters. At the conclusion of your case or at such earlier time as you determine that you no longer have a need for this material, please return all copies to me. A sample protective order is enclosed for your use.

(2R 428).

Counsel for Buenoano made a number of requests for public records access pursuant to Chapter 119 and <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and the Office of the State Attorney took the position that such requests were improper under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.852. In light of these requests, however, the State Attorney's Office, on January 8, 1998, moved the trial court to conduct an <u>in camera</u> inspection of the records pursuant to <u>Bradv</u>, and tendered to the court what it believed to be all of the documents lent by the FBI (1R 187-189). Such <u>in camera</u> inspection was conducted, and, on January 15, 1998, the trial court found that none of the documents, then under seal, were required to be **disclosed** (1R 332-338).

Unfortunately, the State Attorney had inadvertently failed to provide all of the FBI documents, and, upon learning of such omission, requested an additional in camera inspection of the remainder on January 20, 1998 (1R 357-358). This matter was taken up at **a** hearing on January 23, 1998, and following objection by Buenoano's counsel, the State's request was denied (1R 471). The Assistant State Attorney then provided the materials to Buenoano and formally filed them in the court file. Upon being reminded of the terms of the transmittal, the Assistant State Attorney then sought a protective order from this Court on February 4, 1998, and this Court subsequently transferred the matter to the circuit court. The State formally refiled this request for protective order on February 11, 1998, specifically asserting that the documents at issue were exempt from disclosure under \$119.072, Fla.Stat. (1997), and attaching affidavits from two federal officials to the effect that disclosure of the documents would information concerning pending investigations, reveal reveal sensitive law enforcement methods or techniques and would reveal information about individuals protected under the Privacy Act (2R

421-8). Despite these representations, the circuit court denied the State's Motion for Protective Order.

It is important to immediately recognize what matters are, and what matters are not, presented in this appeal. This case does not involve any issue pertaining to a Florida citizen's right to discover the actions of his government or a citizen's right to inspect state, county or municipal public records. Cf. City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135, 1136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), cert. denied, 651 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 1995). Rather, this case simply presents the narrow issue of whether a state agency's inadvertent, unauthorized and short-lived disclosure of records, belonging to another agency, constitutes a waiver of confidentiality for all purposes and as to all parties. The answer to this question must be in the negative, and the order on appeal reversed, in that the court below failed to fully consider the interests of the third party effected by disclosure (and the true custodian of the records), the federal government.

In denying the Motion for Protective Order, the circuit court made three distinct legal conclusions - (1) that the State had waived any claim of statutory exemption from disclosure relating to criminal investigative matters by voluntarily albeit inadvertently turning the records over the Buenoano; (2) that the Rules of Judicial Administration controlled and that such contained no exemption for criminal investigatory matters, and (3) that no basis

for protection or confidentiality of the documents existed under Fla.R.Jud.Admin. 2.051(c)(9). These conclusions will be addressed in inverse order.

First of all, Fla.R.Jud.Admin. 2.051(c)(9)(A)(v), expressly provides that a court record may be determined to be confidential when confidentiality is required to avoid substantial injury to innocent third parties. The State presented declarations from two federal officials to the effect that disclosure of the documents at issue would entail disclosure of classified information concerning pending investigations, sensitive law enforcement methods and techniques, and sensitive information about individuals protected under the Privacy Act. Although the district court, after in camera review of these documents, apparently discounted such assertions, the State respectfully suggests that the federal authorities are in the best position to determine the harm which would result from disclosure of these documents, given their knowledge of other pending federal prosecutions, etc. The prevention of harm to third parties is a well-recognized basis for closure of procedures or records, see Barron v. Florida Freedom Newspapers, 531 So.2d 113, 118 (Fla. 1988); Post-Newsweek Stations v. Doe, 612 So.2d 549, 551-3 (Fla. 1992) (holding that test announced in Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), is not applicable when balancing the interests of third parties). At minimum, the documents at issue should not be

subject to unlimited public disclosure unless and/or until the federal government has been afforded a fair opportunity to be heard.

Secondly, the circuit court's conclusion that only those exemptions or criteria expressly set forth in the Rules of Judicial Administration could apply to a motion for protective order would seem to be incorrect. Thus, in <u>Florida Publishina Company v. State</u> of Florida, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D346 (Fla. 1st DCA January 27, 1998), the First District expressly held that Fla.R.Jud.Admin. 2.051(c)(8), had expressly adopted all of the items "made exempt by the Florida Statutes," including that exemption pertaining to "criminal investigative material;" it would not appear that any of the parties brought this precedent to the attention of the court Because, as will be demonstrated below, the documents at below. issue do in fact constitute criminal investigative material, which had only been lent to a Florida agency on a confidential basis, statutory exemptions do properly apply which preclude public disclosure.

The documents at issue were lent to the Office of the State Attorney for the Ninth Judicial Circuit by the Department of Justice on a limited and confidential basis, the transmittal letter expressly stating that such documents were "not public" and "should only be disclosed pursuant to a Protective Order." As such, the documents fully satisfy the statutory exemption asserted by the

State in its Motion for Protective Order, \$119.072, Fla.Stat. (1997); such provision provides:

119.072 Criminal intelligence or investigative information obtained from out-of-state **agencies.** - Whenever criminal intelligence information or criminal investigative information held by a non-Florida criminal justice agency is available to a Florida criminal justice agency only on a confidential or similarly restricted basis, the Florida criminal justice agency may obtain and use such information in accordance with the conditions imposed by the providing agency.

It is well established that transmission of records pertaining to criminal investigative matters between agencies, including between federal and state agencies, does not cause such documents to lose their confidential status. See, e.a., Barfield, 642 So.2d at 1137; Morris v. Whitehead, 588 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The court below did not conclude that, as a matter of fact, the documents at issue did not fall within the above provision, but rather concluded that the State had voluntarily albeit inadvertently waived this claim of statutory exemption, by providing the documents to Buenoano. The State respectfully contends that any finding of voluntary waiver is contradicted by the record, and that, further, impossible to find on this record that the right of it is confidentiality held by the true custodian of these records, i.e., the federal government, has been waived.

First of all, it is highly questionable the extent to which any disclosure to Buenoano was "voluntary", in that the State's

clear intent was for all of the FBI documents to be sealed and submitted to the court for <u>in camera</u> inspection. It was only through inadvertence that the documents now at issue were not part of the original submission to the court, and the State's request for further in camera inspection of these matters was denied by the court below. It was only at that juncture that the documents were disclosed to the defendant, but, most importantly, it must be remembered that such disclosure was not unlimited, in that the State sought to impose conditions upon Buenoano's use thereof (2R While it certainly can be said that the State should have 602-03). been more diligent in its assertion of claims of statutory exemption prior to February 11, 1998 (just as it should have been more diligent in providing all of the documents to the circuit court for one complete in camera inspection), it must be noted that the position of the State Attorney's Office was that Chapter 119 was not applicable to these records, and the office was not expressly directed to assert any applicable statutory exemptions until this Court's order of February 6, 1998, which provided ten (10) days for doing so.

In <u>Catanese v. Ceros-Livingston</u>, 599 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 613 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1992), the court expressly held that the inadvertent, mistaken and unauthorized disclosure of certain confidential documents did not irrevocably waive confidentiality for all records involved. Such a holding should

clearly apply here, especially given the fact that the right of confidentiality is held by an agency (and sovereign) other than the one which may have made a negligent but limited disclosure. Simply put, the Office of the State Attorney could not waive what it did not possess, i.e., an unlimited right to the documents at issue. The State Attorney's Office below had only temporary and limited custody of the documents, and no statute or precedent can equitably stand for the proposition that all claims of confidentiality have been lost.

In conclusion, this case begins and ends with the interests of the federal government. As the court held in <u>Barfield</u>, there is a strong legislative intent to protect confidential information concerning criminal investigative information,* and the focus of any inquiry is upon the nature of the documents, rather than upon in whose hands the information rests, Here, the information was (and is) confidential, and while there was an inadvertent, mistaken and unauthorized disclosure for a period of approximately one week, it must be noted that efforts were made with due dispatch to preserve the confidentiality of the documents. In seeking a protective order, the State was essentially seeking only to preserve the status quo, in that the documents had not yet been

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