#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 92,442

On Appeal From the Ninth Judicial Circuit In and For Orange County, Florida

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

JUDY A. BUENOANO,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF INTERVENORS NEW YORK TIMES REGIONAL NEWSPAPERS AND SENTINEL COMMUNICATIONS CO.

Gregg D. Thomas, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 223913
Kimberly A. Stott, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 980137
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP
Post Office Box 1288
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 227-8500

and

Adam Liptak, Esq.
THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY
Legal Department
229 West **43rd** Street
New York, New York
(212) 556-1882

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

#### ARGUMENT

# THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE STATE'S MOTION FOR A PROTECTIVE ORDER.

Rather than demonstrate any compelling interest that justifies closure of the records at issue, the State has simply reiterated its excuse that the records should be sealed because they were released in error.

Under Florida law, records that have been placed in court files or made available to a criminal defendant cannot subsequently be pulled from the public view based merely an after-the-fact admission of error. The State should not be allowed to turn its own mistake into a shield that prevents public disclosure.

After conducting its in-camera review of these records, the trial court correctly recognized that the State cannot "take back" these records. Whether the State seeks to seal the records by its misplaced attempt to assert an exemption to Chapter 119, the Public Records Act, Florida Statutes (1997) or by its invocation of Florida Rule of Judicial Procedure 2.051, the trial court reached the correct result in ordering the release of these records.

The State has failed to demonstrate that releasing these records would jeopardize any compelling governmental interest. To the contrary, disclosure would further Florida's established policy of open government records. Because the records apparently relate to the conviction and sentence of a condemned inmate, full access to these records is particularly important.

In both the trial court and this Court, the State erroneously contended that Section 119.072, a provision that exempts from disclosure criminal intelligence or criminal investigative information obtained from out-of-state agencies, dictated that the previously released records should now be sealed. The trial court correctly determined that the State's after-the-fact attempt to assert an exemption failed for the three reasons discussed below.

1. Section 119.072 does not apply to these records because they were voluntarily disclosed to Buenoano and placed in a court file.

Once the State gave documents to Buenoano, any exemption that could have been asserted expired. <u>See Florida Freedom</u>

Newspapers, Inc. v. McCrary, 520 So. 2d 32, 36 (Fla. 1988). Even though Section 119.072 provides an exemption for criminal intelligence or investigative information, any such information becomes accessible to the public once it is disclosed to the accused. <u>See</u> § 119.011(3) (c)5., Fla. Stat. (1997)<sup>6</sup>; <u>see also</u>

<sup>5</sup> Section 119.072 of the Public Records Act provides:

Whenever criminal intelligence or criminal investigative information held by a non-Florida criminal justice agency is available to a Florida criminal justice agency only on a confidential or similarly restricted basis, the Florida criminal justice agency may obtain and use such information in accordance with the conditions imposed by the providing agency.

Section 119.011(3) (c)5. provides in relevant part:

<sup>(</sup>c) "Criminal intelligence information" and "criminal investigative information" shall not include:

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3:220(1)(1). Thus, the State's admission that it released the records in error cannot turn records that are already public into sealed records.' As the trial court found, because the records were "voluntarily, even though inadvertently, given to [Buenoano], they are specifically excluded from 'criminal intelligence information' or [']criminal investigative information.'" (App. A-5.)8

In addition, any exemption must be asserted <a href="before">before</a>
information is provided to a defendant. Once the records are given to a defendant, many exemptions expire. <a href="See, e.g.">See, e.g.</a>, <a href="Staton">Staton</a>
<a href="V. McMillan">v. McMillan</a>, 597 So. 2d 940, 941 (Fla. 1st DCA), <a href="review denied">review denied</a>, <a href="Tribune Co.">Tribune Co.</a>, v. <a href="Public Records">Public Records</a>, 493 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), <a href="review denied sub nom">review denied sub nom</a>. <a href="Gillum v. Tribune Co.">Gillum v. Tribune Co.</a>, 503 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 1987); <a href="Satz v. Blankenship">Satz v. Blankenship</a>, 407 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), <a href="review denied">review denied</a>, 413 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1982).

The State did not assert any exemptions until <u>after</u> the records had been disclosed. As the trial court found:

. . .

<sup>5.</sup> Documents given or required by law or agency rule to be given to the person arrested[.]...

<sup>7</sup> The State's citation to <u>Cantanese v. Ceros-Livinsston</u>, 599 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 613 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1992), is misplaced. <u>Cantanese</u> concerned records that had not been disclosed; the records in the instant case have already been disclosed.

<sup>8</sup> See Wait v. Florida Power & Lisht Co., 372 So. 2d 420, 424 (Fla. 1979) (policy arguments must be addressed to the Legislature to take advantage of a statutory exemption).

[T]he State's right to withhold disclosure of these documents was not asserted before these documents were voluntarily handed over to [Buenoano] and voluntarily filed in the court file. Therefore, this Court finds that the legislative public records exemptions cannot now be asserted by [Buenoano] since these documents have already been made public due to the fact that they were already given to [Buenoano].

(App. A-6.)

The trial court correctly found that criminal intelligence or investigative information becomes accessible to the public once it is disclosed to the accused. The State's own error in providing the records to Buenoano--without asserting any exemptions--led the trial court to conclude that the exemption found in Section 119.072 does not apply. To reach any other conclusion would'do nothing but promote confusion, uncertainty, and litigation because agencies could be allowed to release, then seek to retract, their public records at will.

2. Section 119.072 is an exemption to the Public Records Act and does not apply to the judicial records at issue.

Because the records were filed with the court clerk and placed in a court file, the trial court determined that these documents are "judicial records" whose disclosure is governed by Rule 2.051. (App. A-8.)9

Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.051(a) expresses a policy that "[t]he public shall have access to all records of the

Judicial **records** include documents "created by any entity within the judicial branch . . ., that are made or received pursuant to court rule, law **or ordinance**, or in connection with the transaction of official business by any court or court agency." Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.051(b).

judicial branch of government," with only narrow exemptions.

Thus, the right of access attaches to records and other documents filed with the court or considered by the court. See, e.g.,

Sentinel Communications Co. v. Watson, 615 So. 2d 768, 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) ("Our analysis must begin with the proposition that all civil and criminal court proceedings are public events, records of court proceedings are public records and there is a strong presumption in favor of public access to such matters.").

The disclosure of judicial records is governed by Rule 2.051--and not by the Public Records Act. See Times Publ'q Co. v. Ake, 660 So. 2d 255, 257 (Fla. 1995) (under separation of powers principles, the Public Records Act does not apply to judicial records). Rule 2.051 begins with the presumption that judicial records are public, unless they meet the rule's narrow exemptions.

The State insists in its Initial Brief that the exemption for criminal investigative or intelligence information in Section 119.072 applies to these judicial records. In a recent case dealing with Rule 2.051, the First District Court of Appeal held that Rule 2.051(c) (8) adopts all items made exempt by Florida statutes. See Florida Publ's Co. v. State, 1998 WL 25168, at \*1 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. '27, 1998). The State thus relies on Florida Publishing to try to force the exemption in Section 119,072 onto these judicial records.

<u>Florida Publishing</u> certainly does not dictate that the exemption in Section 119.072 for criminal investigative or

criminal intelligence information <u>must</u> apply. Indeed, such a reading would be contrary to this State's policy on access to records. Here, even if the federal government expected the records to remain confidential, the trial court found the fact that the State voluntarily gave these records to Buenoano excludes them as criminal intelligence or criminal investigative information. (App. A-5.)

The State's attempt to graft exemptions in the Public Records Act onto judicial records fails. To the extent that the Court is guided by the statutory exemption, it must also follow the statute **exactly.** In this case, by the clear language of Sections 119.072 and 119.011(3) (c)5., the exemption is inapplicable.

# 3. The records should be unsealed because the State has not met any of the narrow exemptions in Rule 2.051(c) (9).

A party seeking closure of judicial records faces a heavy burden. <u>See</u> Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.051(c) (9). In its commentary to Rule 2.051, this Court noted that subsection (c) (9) was adopted to incorporate two stringent tests for closure of criminal and civil records. <u>See Barron v. Florida Freedom</u>

Newspapers, Inc., 531 So. 2d 113 (Fla. 1988) (adopting test for closure of records in civil cases); <u>Miami Herald Publ'q Co. v.</u>

Lewis, 426 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982) (setting out three-part test for closure of criminal records).

In both <u>Barron</u> and <u>Lewis</u>, the party seeking closure must show that closure is necessary to serve a compelling interest,

that no reasonable alternatives are available to complete closure, and that any closure is the least restrictive necessary to accomplish its purpose.

As an initial step to justify closure of judicial records, Rule 2.051(c) (9) (A) requires a party to show that confidentiality is required to:

- (i) prevent a serious and imminent threat to the administration of justice;
  - (ii) protect trade secrets;
  - (iii) protect a compelling governmental interest;
- (iv) obtain evidence to determine legal issues in a case;
- (v) avoid substantial injury to innocent third parties;
- (vi) avoid substantial injury to a party by disclosure of matters protected by a common law or privacy right not generally inherent in the specific type of proceeding sought to be closed;
- (vii) **comply** with established public policy set forth in the Florida or United States Constitution or statutes or Florida rules or case law.

The trial court found that the State had not met  $\underline{any}$  of these criteria. (App. A-9, A-10.)<sup>10</sup>

The State suggests in its Initial Brief that the records at issue should be kept confidential to avoid substantial injury to an innocent third party: the federal government.

In addition, a party seeking closure of a judicial record must make a showing that includes demonstrating that any closure is no broader than necessary to protect the interests in Rule 2.051(c)(9) (A) and there is no less restrictive measure to protect those interests. <u>See</u> Rule 2.051(c)(9)(B), (C). Because the State has not cleared the first hurdle, it certainly cannot clear the second or third.

The prevention of harm to innocent third parties can provide a basis for closing court proceedings or records. <u>See Barron</u>, 531 so. 2d at 118; \*see also Fla. R. Jud. Admin.

2.051(c)(9)(A)(v). In <u>Barron</u>, however, the type of "innocent third parties" that this Court suggested deserved protection were children during divorce litigation or young witnesses who might be subject to offensive testimony. 531 so. 2d at 118. It strains credulity for the State to suggest that the federal

government is so fragile or powerless that it requires the same

protection of closure that might be afforded to a young and

vulnerable child.

Other than its naked assertion that closure is warranted to protect the federal government, the State offers no specific evidentiary support for its conclusion that these ten records must remain sealed. This is contrary to <a href="Barron">Barron</a>, where this Court held that any closure order must be drawn "with particularity and narrowly applied." <a href="Id.">Id.</a> at 117.

The State suggests that the records should not be released until the federal government has an opportunity to be heard. Significantly, the federal government had this opportunity at the trial court's hearing on February 18. The record reflects that the federal government was in contact with the State before the hearing, so it surely was aware that the hearing would be held. For example, in its motion for protective order, the State attached declarations from two FBI employees explaining the nature of the documents given to the State. (2R 421 - 422)

(declaration of Bobbie Olivarri); (2R 426-427) (declaration of Lucy Thomson). Both declarations are dated February 11, 1998, or just one week before the February 18 hearing. Yet inexplicably, the federal government apparently chose not to be heard.

The State has never offered any specific facts that would cause harm to the federal government. Indeed, a letter from an FBI attorney providing the documents to the State simply states that the material "may contain references to individuals whose identification is protected by the Privacy Act, and to other sensitive matters." (2R 428) (emphasis added). This pro forma assertion cannot serve as the particularized basis required to seal judicial records. More importantly, the trial court reviewed these records and determined that no grounds existed to withhold these documents pursuant to Rule 2.051. Nothing in the record presented by the State or federal government undermines this finding of fact, The record is barren of any facts to prove the asserted federal privacy interests.

On March 2, 1998, the federal government filed a motion with this Court that attempts to assert its interests in keeping these records sealed. Even at the eleventh hour, however, the federal government never enunciates with particularity the specific harm that will result from releasing these records. Instead, there is merely an assertion that the documents belong to the government.<sup>11</sup>

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$  But once the federal government turned over documents to the State, they became records subject to the Public Records Act. The courts in Florida cannot allow the maker or sender of

Neither the State, nor any other party, has shown that it can meet the burden of proving that closure is necessary to protect the rights of innocent third parties or to protect any vague privacy rights. Even if the State were able to produce such parties, those parties would bear the burden of proving that closure is necessary to prevent an imminent threat to their specific—not generalized—privacy rights. See Post-Newsweek Stations v. Doe, 612 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 1992).

Thus, the State has completely failed to make the particularized showing required by Rule 2.051, Lewis, and Barron to justify closure. Because the State has not met its burden, this Court should affirm the trial court's order and release the judicial records.

#### CONCLUSION

Florida has a long tradition of **access** to public and judicial records. Based on the public's right of access--and the State's failure to justify closure of these records--The New York Times and the Sentinel respectfully request this Court to deny

documents to dictate the circumstances under which they are to be deemed confidential, unless consistent with an applicable exemption. See Gadd v. News-Press Publ'q Co.. Inc., 412 So. 2d 894 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied, 419 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1982). As discussed previously, the time to assert an exemption is before—not after—records are released. The claimed exemption in Section 119.072 therefore does not apply to these records.

the State's attempt to shield records from the public and to affirm the trial court's order.